VANCOMYCIN DOSING AND THERAPEUTIC DRUG MONITORING – CHW

PRACTICE GUIDELINE °

DOCUMENT SUMMARY/KEY POINTS

- Vancomycin is an important antibiotic for methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) infections where guidance on optimising therapy and minimising toxicity is required.
- This guideline is not intended for use in preterm neonates or patients admitted to the Grace Centre for Newborn Care (GCNC), where the Australasian Neonatal Medicines Formulary should be used

CHANGE SUMMARY

- Trough targets of 15-20 mg/L are NO longer recommended based on recent efficacy and toxicity studies
- The new trough target is 7 to 15 mg/L with updated dose adjustments
- Target Area Under the Curve (AUC) guided dosing is the preferred method of therapeutic drug monitoring in patients with:
 - MRSA bloodstream infection
 - PICU patients with unstable renal function (delta creatinine of \geq 150%)
 - PICU patients on concurrent nephrotoxins
 - Patients with complicated pharmacokinetics driven by the AMS pharmacist
- Updated starting doses in patients with normal renal function
 - 1 month to 18 years of age: 15 mg/kg/dose (maximum of 750 mg/dose) 6 hourly
 - $_{\circ}$ $\,$ 6 hourly dosing is preferred in children and adolescents
 - ∘ These doses will achieve a target AUC ≥400 mg-hr/L in >75%
 - >12 years age dose of 30 mg/kg/dose 12 hourly is NO longer recommended
- The maximum daily dose with therapeutic drug monitoring is 100 mg/kg/DAY or 4.5 g/DAY

This document reflects what is currently regarded as safe practice. However, as in any clinical situation, there may be factors which cannot be covered by a single set of guidelines. This document does not replace the need for the application of clinical judgement to each individual presentation.

Approved by:	SCHN Policy, Procedure and Guideline Co	mmittee		
Date Effective:	6 th of October 2021	Review Period:	3 years	
Team Leader:	Antimicrobial Stewardship Pharmacist	Area/Dept: Anti	imicrobial Stewardship Team	
Date of Publishin	g: 15 November 2022 2:39 PM	Date of Printing:	Page 1 of 21	

 Date of Publishing:
 15 November 2022 2:39 PM
 Date of Printing:

 K:\CHW P&P\ePolicy\Nov 22\Vancomycin Dosing and Therapeutic Drug Monitoring - CHW.docx

 This Guideline may be varied, withdrawn or replaced at any time.



- 5/11/21 minor review to fix spelling issue. No other changes made.
- 15/11/22- minor review. Change of target level from 8.5 to 15 mg/L to 7 to 15 mg/L

READ ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

• Medical officers, nursing and pharmacists need to be aware of and understand the contents of this guideline.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Background	. 3
Starting dose and timing of trough serum concentration measurement	. 4
Dose adjustment and therapeutic drug monitoring (TDM)	. 5
Vancomycin continuous infusions (VCI)	. 7
Adverse effects	. 8
Monitoring:	. 9
Presentation and formulary restrictions	. 9
Administration	. 9
References	. 9
Appendix I: Pharmacology	12
Antibacterial pharmacodynamics evidence:	12
Antimicrobial resistance pharmacodynamics evidence:	13
Toxicity pharmacodynamics evidence:	13
Appendix II: Frequently Asked Questions	14
1. What is the evidence of the 15 mg/kg/dose 6 hourly dosing, and why is 30 mg/kg/do 12 hourly from the eTG as a starting dose not recommended?	se 14
2. Why are the target troughs of 15 to 20 mg/L not recommended?	16
3. Where did the trough level-based dose adjustments, maximum doses of 100 mg/kg/DAY or 4.5g/DAY, come from?	17
4. Is there different dosing in obesity for children because it is not mentioned in the guideline?	19
5. Why are loading doses of vancomycin not recommended in this guideline?	20

This document reflects what is currently regarded as safe practice. However, as in any clinical situation, there may be factors which cannot be covered by a single set of guidelines. This document does not replace the need for the application of clinical judgement to each individual presentation.

	, ,				
Approved by:	SCHN Policy, Procedure and Guideline Co	mmittee			
Date Effective:	6 th of October 2021 Review Period: 3 years				
Team Leader:	Antimicrobial Stewardship Pharmacist	Ar	rea/Dept: /	Antimicrobial Stewardship Team	
Date of Publishing: 15 November 2022 2:39 PM Date of Publishing		Date of Printir	ng:	Page 2 of 21	-18
K:\CHW P&P\ePolicy\Nov 22\Vancomycin Dosing and Therapeutic Drug Monitoring - CHW.docx					

This Guideline may be varied, withdrawn or replaced at any time.

Background

- Vancomycin is a high-risk medicine and necessary glycopeptide antibiotic that is mainly indicated to treat serious infections caused by methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA).^(1, 2)
- These infections range from boils, impetigo, wound infections, and cellulitis to severe infections such as bone and joint infections, pneumonia, endocarditis and bacteraemia.
- Our local and national rates of MRSA are 17-22%, and local modelling (Figure 1) indicates MRSA resistance rates are increasing. ⁽³⁾



Figure 1: Percentage Staphylococcus aureus resistance to flucloxacillin (Acknowledgment: Dr Indy Sandaradura)

- The 30-day mortality of MRSA bacteraemia in Australian children is 8.5% (lower compared to adults 22.8%), and patients with MRSA bacteraemia are twice as likely to die compared to methicicillin-sensitive Staphylococcus aureus (MSSA) (4.1%) [OR 2.2 (95% CI 1.1-4.3)]. ⁽⁴⁾
- Vancomycin is commonly prescribed at CHW with over 200 days of therapy per month and around 5-10 vancomycin inpatient prescriptions per day. It is consistently in the top 10 most prescribed antimicrobials based on annual point prevalence and eMM utilisation data at CHW.
- Despite over six decades of clinical use of vancomycin, recent studies have been published in 2020 that have changed the dosing recommendations of vancomycin and therapeutic drug monitoring (TDM).

Vancomycin for oral administration is available but is out of scope in this guideline

Please note: Vancomycin given orally does not require therapeutic drug monitoring



Guideline: Vancomycin Dosing and Therapeutic Drug Monitoring – CHW

Starting dose and timing of trough serum concentration measurement



- GFR: estimated glomerular filtration rate based on Bedside Schwartz creatinine clearance (mL/min/1.73 m²), Cr: serum creatinine (umol/L)
- *For pre-term neonates or patients in NICU, refer to <u>Australasian Neonatal Medicines Formulary</u>.
- Trough level should be taken within 1 hour before the next dose.
- If the recommended trough level measurement has been missed, measure a trough level on the subsequent dose

 Date of Publishing:
 15 November 2022 2:39 PM
 Date of Printing:

 K:\CHW P&P\ePolicy\Nov 22\Vancomycin Dosing and Therapeutic Drug Monitoring - CHW.docx

 This Guideline may be varied, withdrawn or replaced at any time.



the childr^en's hospital at Westmead

Dose adjustment and therapeutic drug monitoring (TDM)

1. Trough guided therapeutic drug monitoring is recommended for:



Date of Publishing:15 November 2022 2:39 PMDate of Printing:K:\CHW P&P\ePolicy\Nov 22\Vancomycin Dosing and Therapeutic Drug Monitoring - CHW.docxThis Guideline may be varied, withdrawn or replaced at any time.



Target trough concentrations of 15 to 20 mg/L for severe infection is NO LONGER recommended

- Starting dose of 15 mg/kg/dose 6 hourly (60 mg/kg/DAY) will achieve target concentrations* in >75% of children >3 months of age.
- If doses reach >100 mg/kg/DAY or >4.5 g/DAY contact the AMS pharmacist pager 6658. Continuous infusions should be considered.
- A steady state trough concentration of 7 to 15 mg/L is close to an AUC of 400 to 540 mg-hr/L.
- Trough levels ≥15 mg/L is associated with 2-3-fold risk of nephrotoxicity in children and is no longer recommended for serious infections

*Median trough level: 14 mg/L (IQR 8-21), Median AUC:541 mg-hr/L (IQR 397-735)

References: 2020 Rybak CID, 2014 Le TDM and 2013 Le PIDJ, 2020 Olsen et. al. PIDJ

the children's hospital at Westmead

Guideline: Vancomycin Dosing and Therapeutic Drug Monitoring - CHW

2. Area Under the Concentration (AUC) guided therapeutic drug monitoring (TDM) is recommended for:



*Nephrotoxins include aminoglycoside, piperacillin/tazobactam, amphotericin B, NSAIDs, foscarnet, loop diuretics, vasopressors, contrast dye, and IV acyclovir

 AUC guided dosing of vancomycin is the preferred strategy to individualise therapy because it incorporates:

- Weight
- Renal function
- Advantages of AUC vs. trough guided TDM include:
 - Less risk of acute kidney injury (AKI)
 - Reduced length of stay from AKI
 - Less blood draws
 - Shorter durations of vancomycin
 - Better and faster achievement of target AUC exposure
 - Levels can be taken at anytime
- Trough guided dosing will lead to unnecessary larger doses in 25-35% of patients who have already achieved target AUC exposure

References: 2020 Rybak et. al. CID, 2013 Le et. al. PIDJ, 2020 Olsen et. al. PIDJ, 2018 Neely et. al. AAC, 2014 Pai et. al. AdvDrugDel



the childr^en's hospital at Westmead

Vancomycin continuous infusions (VCI)

- Vancomycin administered as a continuous infusion is useful in children having difficulty achieving target concentrations and CNS infections ⁽⁵⁾.
- It has been shown that VCI in children is twice as more effective at achieving target concentrations and requires less dose adjustments when compared to intermittent dosing. ⁽⁶⁾ A large adult study (n=1430) showed a lower risk of AKI compared to intermittent infusions ⁽⁷⁾.



NSW

K:\CHW P&P\ePolicy\Nov 22\Vancomycin Dosing and Therapeutic Drug Monitoring - CHW.docx

This Guideline may be varied, withdrawn or replaced at any time.

Adverse effects

- Nephrotoxicity (Incidence 5-14%)⁽⁸⁻¹⁰⁾
 - Risk factors include: trough levels ≥15 mg/L, AUC >800 mg-hr/L, doses >4g/DAY, duration >7 days, obesity, pre-existing renal impairment, critical illness or concurrent nephrotoxins*
 - This is reversible and 3% of AKI episodes may require dialysis ⁽¹¹⁾
- Vancomycin infusion reaction ("red man syndrome" term should no longer be used) can occur in 4% of patients. ⁽¹²⁻¹⁵⁾
 - Erythematous rash, generalised flushing
 - Severe reactions can include hypotension, chest pain and dyspnoea
 - Not a sign of allergy; a non-IgE mediated reaction caused by histamine release from mast cells
 - Onset: usually within 4-10 minutes after the start of infusion
 - Risk factors:
 - Associated with rapid infusion of vancomycin (<1 hour)
 - Drugs that induce histamine release (e.g. ciprofloxacin and opioids)
 - Management of reaction:
 - Stop the ongoing infusion; the reaction usually improves promptly after ceasing, and call medical officer immediately
 - Preventative measures:
 - Dilute vancomycin to <2.5 mg/mL
 - Infuse over ≥2 hours
 - No evidence of H₁-antihistamines as a preventive in children
 - Consider teicoplanin as an alternative
- Drug-induced neutropenia (Incidence: 2%)
 - Risk factors: prolong use >7 days, cross-reactivity with teicoplanin
- Ototoxicity (Incidence: 1%):
 - Associated with long duration (>27 days), age and use with aminoglycosides ^(16, 17)
- Drug-induced thrombocytopenia (Incidence: 1%)
- Anaphylaxis (Incidence: <1%)
 - o IgE mediation reaction occurring within 1-6 hours of administration
- Delayed hypersensitivity reactions (Incidence: <1%):</p>
 - Maculopapular rash, severe cutaneous adverse reactions (SCAR), Stevens-Johnson syndrome (SJS), toxic epidermal necrosis (TEN) or Drug reaction with eosinophilia and systemic symptoms (DRESS)
 - o Onset is days to weeks after exposure-median latency of 7 days.
 - o Cross-reactivity with teicoplanin



Monitoring:

Renal function:

- Electrolyte, Urea and Creatinine (EUC) should be measured at commencement then at least twice weekly while on vancomycin. More frequent monitoring is required in hemodynamically unstable patients or patients on concurrent nephrotoxins.
- These blood tests should be done when vancomycin levels are taken to reduce the number of venepunctures.

Presentation and formulary restrictions

- Vancomycin is available as:
 - 500 mg vial for intravenous infusion (\$4.50/vial)
 - 1 gram vial for intravenous infusion (\$7.80/vial)
- Vancomycin is a restricted antimicrobial, and the appropriateness of its use is regularly reviewed according to the <u>CHW Antimicrobial Stewardship</u> policy.

Administration

Refer to Paediatric Injectable Medicines Handbook: Vancomycin monograph

References

- 1. Antibiotic Expert Group, Therapeutic Guidelines Limited. Therapeutic Guidelines: Antibiotic: Therapeutic Guidelines Limited; 2019.
- Rybak MJ, Le J, Lodise TP, Levine DP, Bradley JS, Liu C, et al. Therapeutic Monitoring of Vancomycin for Serious Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus Infections: A Revised Consensus Guideline and Review by the American Society of Health-system Pharmacists, the Infectious Diseases Society of America, the Pediatric Infectious Diseases Society, and the Society of Infectious Diseases Pharmacists. Clinical Infectious Diseases. 2020;71(6):1361-4.
- 3. (ACSQHC) ACoSaQiHC. AURA 2019: third Australian report on antimicrobial use and resistance in human health. Sydney: ACSQHC2019.
- 4. McMullan BJ, Bowen A, Blyth CC, Van Hal S, Korman TM, Buttery J, et al. Epidemiology and Mortality of Staphylococcus aureus Bacteremia in Australian and New Zealand Children. JAMA pediatrics. 2016;170(10):979-86.
- 5. Blassmann U, Hope W, Roehr AC, Frey OR, Vetter-Kerkhoff C, Thon N, et al. CSF penetration of vancomycin in critical care patients with proven or suspected ventriculitis: a prospective observational study. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2019;74(4):991-6.
- 6. Gwee A, Cranswick N, McMullan B, Perkins E, Bolisetty S, Gardiner K, et al. Continuous Versus Intermittent Vancomycin Infusions in Infants: A Randomized Controlled Trial. Pediatrics. 2019;143(2).
- Hanrahan TP, Harlow G, Hutchinson J, Dulhunty JM, Lipman J, Whitehouse T, et al. Vancomycinassociated nephrotoxicity in the critically ill: a retrospective multivariate regression analysis*. Crit Care Med. 2014;42(12):2527-36.
- 8. Sosnin N, Curtis N, Cranswick N, Chiletti R, Gwee A. Vancomycin is commonly under-dosed in critically ill children and neonates. British journal of clinical pharmacology. 2019.



Guideline: Vancomycin Dosing and Therapeutic Drug Monitoring – CHW

- 9. McKamy S, Hernandez E, Jahng M, Moriwaki T, Deveikis A, Le J. Incidence and risk factors influencing the development of vancomycin nephrotoxicity in children. The Journal of pediatrics. 2011;158(3):422-6.
- Le J, Ny P, Capparelli E, Lane J, Ngu B, Muus R, et al. Pharmacodynamic Characteristics of Nephrotoxicity Associated With Vancomycin Use in Children. J Pediatric Infect Dis Soc. 2015;4(4):e109-16.
- 11. van Hal SJ, Paterson DL, Lodise TP. Systematic review and meta-analysis of vancomycin-induced nephrotoxicity associated with dosing schedules that maintain troughs between 15 and 20 milligrams per liter. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy. 2013;57(2):734-44.
- 12. Bauters T, Claus B, Schelstraete P, Robays H, Benoit Y, Dhooge C. Vancomycin-induced red man syndrome in pediatric oncology: still an issue? Int J Clin Pharm. 2012;34(1):13-6.
- 13. Martini S, Alessandroni R, Arcuri S, Faldella G. Vancomycin-induced red man syndrome presentation in a preterm infant. Pediatr Dermatol. 2018;35(6):e408-e9.
- 14. Levy M, Koren G, Dupuis L, Read SE. Vancomycin-induced red man syndrome. Pediatrics. 1990;86(4):572-80.
- Healy DP, Sahai JV, Fuller SH, Polk RE. Vancomycin-induced histamine release and "red man syndrome": comparison of 1- and 2-hour infusions. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy. 1990;34(4):550-4.
- 16. Sorrell TC, Collignon PJ. A prospective study of adverse reactions associated with vancomycin therapy. J Antimicrob Chemother. 1985;16(2):235-41.
- 17. Forouzesh A, Moise PA, Sakoulas G. Vancomycin ototoxicity: a reevaluation in an era of increasing doses. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy. 2009;53(2):483-6.
- 18. Rybak MJ. The pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic properties of vancomycin. Clinical infectious diseases : an official publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America. 2006;42 Suppl 1:S35-9.
- Le J, Bradley JS, Murray W, Romanowski GL, Tran TT, Nguyen N, et al. Improved vancomycin dosing in children using area under the curve exposure. The Pediatric infectious disease journal. 2013;32(4):e155-63.
- Frymoyer A, Guglielmo BJ, Hersh AL. Desired vancomycin trough serum concentration for treating invasive methicillin-resistant Staphylococcal infections. The Pediatric infectious disease journal. 2013;32(10):1077-9.
- 21. Singh NB, Yim J, Jahanbakhsh S, Sakoulas G, Rybak MJ. Impact of cefazolin co-administration with vancomycin to reduce development of vancomycin-intermediate Staphylococcus aureus. Diagn Microbiol Infect Dis. 2018;91(4):363-70.
- 22. Fiorito TM, Luther MK, Dennehy PH, LaPlante KL, Matson KL. Nephrotoxicity With Vancomycin in the Pediatric Population: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. The Pediatric infectious disease journal. 2018;37(7):654-61.
- 23. Le J, Ngu B, Bradley JS, Murray W, Nguyen A, Nguyen L, et al. Vancomycin monitoring in children using bayesian estimation. Ther Drug Monit. 2014;36(4):510-8.
- 24. Frymoyer A, Hersh AL, Benet LZ, Guglielmo BJ. Current recommended dosing of vancomycin for children with invasive methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus infections is inadequate. The Pediatric infectious disease journal. 2009;28(5):398-402.
- 25. Demirjian A, Finkelstein Y, Nava-Ocampo A, Arnold A, Jones S, Monuteaux M, et al. A Randomized Controlled Trial of a Vancomycin Loading Dose in Children. The Pediatric infectious disease journal. 2013.
- 26. Rybak M, Lomaestro B, Rotschafer JC, Moellering R, Jr., Craig W, Billeter M, et al. Therapeutic monitoring of vancomycin in adult patients: a consensus review of the American Society of Health-System Pharmacists, the Infectious Diseases Society of America, and the Society of Infectious Diseases Pharmacists. American journal of health-system pharmacy : AJHP : official journal of the American Society of Health-System Pharmacists. 2009;66(1):82-98.
- 27. Kullar R, Davis SL, Levine DP, Rybak MJ. Impact of vancomycin exposure on outcomes in patients with methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus bacteremia: support for consensus guidelines suggested targets. Clinical infectious diseases : an official publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America. 2011;52(8):975-81.
- 28. Hermsen ED, Hanson M, Sankaranarayanan J, Stoner JA, Florescu MC, Rupp ME. Clinical outcomes and nephrotoxicity associated with vancomycin trough concentrations during treatment of deep-seated infections. Expert opinion on drug safety. 2010;9(1):9-14.
- 29. Chung J, Oh JM, Cho EM, Jang HJ, Hong SB, Lim CM, et al. Optimal dose of vancomycin for treating methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus pneumonia in critically ill patients. Anaesth Intensive Care. 2011;39(6):1030-7.



- Lodise TP, Graves J, Evans A, Graffunder E, Helmecke M, Lomaestro BM, et al. Relationship between vancomycin MIC and failure among patients with methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus bacteremia treated with vancomycin. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy. 2008;52(9):3315-20.
- McNeil JC, Kaplan SL, Vallejo JG. The Influence of the Route of Antibiotic Administration, Methicillin Susceptibility, Vancomycin Duration and Serum Trough Concentration on Outcomes of Pediatric Staphylococcus aureus Bacteremic Osteoarticular Infection. The Pediatric infectious disease journal. 2017;36(6):572-7.
- McNeil JC, Kok EY, Forbes AR, Lamberth L, Hulten KG, Vallejo JG, et al. Healthcare-associated Staphylococcus aureus Bacteremia in Children: Evidence for Reverse Vancomycin Creep and Impact of Vancomycin Trough Values on Outcome. The Pediatric infectious disease journal. 2016;35(3):263-8.
- Neely MN, Kato L, Youn G, Kraler L, Bayard D, van Guilder M, et al. Prospective Trial on the Use of Trough Concentration versus Area under the Curve To Determine Therapeutic Vancomycin Dosing. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy. 2018;62(2).
- 34. Olson J, Hersh AL, Sorensen J, Zobell J, Anderson C, Thorell EA. Intravenous Vancomycin Therapeutic Drug Monitoring in Children: Evaluation of a Pharmacy-Driven Protocol and Collaborative Practice Agreement. J Pediatric Infect Dis Soc. 2020;9(3):334-41.
- 35. Avedissian SN, Bradley E, Zhang D, Bradley JS, Nazer LH, Tran TM, et al. Augmented Renal Clearance Using Population-Based Pharmacokinetic Modeling in Critically III Pediatric Patients. Pediatric critical care medicine : a journal of the Society of Critical Care Medicine and the World Federation of Pediatric Intensive and Critical Care Societies. 2017;18(9):e388-e94.
- 36. Avedissian SN, Rohani R, Bradley J, Le J, Rhodes NJ. Optimizing Aminoglycoside Dosing Regimens for Critically III Pediatric Patients with Augmented Renal Clearance: a Convergence of Parametric and Nonparametric Population Approaches. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy. 2021;65(4).
- 37. Chang D. Influence of malignancy on the pharmacokinetics of vancomycin in infants and children. The Pediatric infectious disease journal. 1995;14(8):667-73.
- 38. Chang D, Liem L, Malogolowkin M. A prospective study of vancomycin pharmacokinetics and dosage requirements in pediatric cancer patients. The Pediatric infectious disease journal. 1994;13(11):969-74.
- 39. Abdel Hadi O, Al Omar S, Nazer LH, Mubarak S, Le J. Vancomycin pharmacokinetics and predicted dosage requirements in pediatric cancer patients. Journal of oncology pharmacy practice : official publication of the International Society of Oncology Pharmacy Practitioners. 2016;22(3):448-53.
- 40. Crass RL, Dunn R, Hong J, Krop LC, Pai MP. Dosing vancomycin in the super obese: less is more. Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy. 2018;73(11):3081-6.
- 41. Smit C, Goulooze SC, Brüggemann RJM, Sherwin CM, Knibbe CAJ. Dosing Recommendations for Vancomycin in Children and Adolescents with Varying Levels of Obesity and Renal Dysfunction: a Population Pharmacokinetic Study in 1892 Children Aged 1-18 Years. The AAPS journal. 2021;23(3):53.
- 42. Le J, Capparelli EV, Wahid U, Wu YS, Romanowski GL, Tran TM, et al. Bayesian Estimation of Vancomycin Pharmacokinetics in Obese Children: Matched Case-Control Study. Clinical therapeutics. 2015;37(6):1340-51.
- 43. 43. Nguyen WN BJ, Capparelli EV,. Optimal weight-based vancomycin dosing in obese children using Bayesian estimation. Interscience Conference on Antimicroial Agents and Chemotherapy September 21, 2015; San Diego, CA2015.
- 44. Rosini JM, Laughner J, Levine BJ, Papas MA, Reinhardt JF, Jasani NB. A randomized trial of loading vancomycin in the emergency department. Ann Pharmacother. 2015;49(1):6-13.
- 45. Dolan E, Hellinga R, London M, Ryan K, Dehority W. Effect of Vancomycin Loading Doses on the Attainment of Target Trough Concentrations in Hospitalized Children. The journal of pediatric pharmacology and therapeutics : JPPT : the official journal of PPAG. 2020;25(5):423-30.
- Mejías-Trueba M, Alonso-Moreno M, Herrera-Hidalgo L, Gil-Navarro MV. Target Attainment and Clinical Efficacy for Vancomycin in Neonates: Systematic Review. Antibiotics (Basel, Switzerland). 2021;10(4):347.

Copyright notice and disclaimer:

The use of this document outside Sydney Children's Hospitals Network (SCHN), or its reproduction in whole or in part, is subject to acknowledgement that it is the property of SCHN. SCHN has done everything practicable to make this document accurate, up-to-date and in accordance with accepted legislation and standards at the date of publication. SCHN is not responsible for consequences arising from the use of this document outside SCHN. A current version of this document is only available electronically from the Hospitals. If this document is printed, it is only valid to the date of printing.



Appendix I: Pharmacology

	Children	Adult	
CNS penetration	Normal meninges: Nil; Inflamed meninges: 0.2-17.3 mg/L CSF:blood ratio: 7.1%-68%	Uninflamed meninges: 0-4 mg/L Inflamed meninges: 6-11 mg/L CSF:blood ratio: 80%	
Distribution Distributes widely in body tissue and fluids		n body tissue and fluids	
Volume of distribution	Neonate, term: 0.57-0.69 L/kg Infants: 0.56 L/kg Children: 0.47-0.61 L/kg Adolescents: 0.49 L/kg	0.4 to 1 L/kg 0.3-0.5 L/kg (morbidly obese)	
Protein binding: 55%		55%	
Half-life (Significantly prolonged with renal impairment)	Pre-term neonates: 5.9-9.8 hours Term neonates: 6.7 hours Infants: 2.8 hours Children: 2.4-2.9 hours Adolescents: 3.2 hours	Adults: 4-6 hours; End-stage renal disease: 7.5 <u>days</u>	
Excretion	Excretion Primarily via renal (glomerular filtration) 75%		

Antibacterial pharmacodynamics evidence:

The target Area Under the Curve (AUC) is ≥400 mg-hr/L for antibiotic effect

 The ratio of Area Under the Curve over 24 hours to the minimum inhibitory concentration (AUC/MIC) of ≥400 is the critical target for the bactericidal activity (e.g. 2log reduction in bacterial inoculum) for vancomycin (Figure 2) ^(2, 18)



Trough concentration of 7-10 mg/L is equal to an AUC of 400 mg-hr/L in children



Guideline No: 2009-8037 v5

Guideline: Vancomycin Dosing and Therapeutic Drug Monitoring - CHW

- the childr^en's hospital at Westmead
- Trough serum concentrations are a modest surrogate measure for AUC, and a trough level of 8.5 mg/L (95% CI, 6-11) corresponds to an AUC of 400 for 6 hourly dosing from 3 months to 18 years. ^(19, 20)

Figure 3: Correlation between AUC and trough serum concentrations for Vancomycin 6 hourly dosing in children



 This correlation is supported by another PK study where a trough level of 7-10 mg/L is

equal to an AUC of 400 in children >1 month of age with 6 hourly dosing. (20)

Antimicrobial resistance pharmacodynamics evidence:

An AUC <400 mg-hr/L will lead to antimicrobial resistance

• In vivo and In vitro studies have found an AUC of <400 mg-hr/L potentiates the emergence of MRSA resistance and vancomycin-intermediate *S. aureus* strains.⁽²¹⁾

Toxicity pharmacodynamics evidence:

Trough levels of ≥15 mg/L and an AUC >800 mg-hr/L is associated with 2 to 3-fold increase of nephrotoxicity in children

PICU stay and concurrent use of nephrotoxins* are associated with a 1.5-fold increase in nephrotoxicity in children

- A meta-analysis of vancomycin-induced acute kidney injury (AKI) in children showed a trough level of ≥15 mg/L is associated with significantly increased AKI compared to trough levels <15 mg/L ([OR], 2.67; 95% CI, 1.95 to 3.65). ⁽²²⁾
- The first paediatric study (n=167) in children (1 week to 19 years of age) had an overall AKI risk of 14%. Children with a trough level ≥15 mg/L had more AKI compared to children with a trough level <15 mg/L (28% versus 7.3%, P =0.0001). ⁽⁹⁾
- A much larger study (n= 680) in children (2 to 13 years of age) found that a trough level ≥15 mg/L and an AUC ≥800 mg-h/L had an aOR 2.5;(95% CI, 1.1 to 5.8, p=0.028) and aOR 3.7;(95% CI, 1.2 to 11.0, p=0.018) increase risk of AKI, respectively. There is a positive correlation relation for AUC vs AKI. ⁽¹⁰⁾







 Significant nephrotoxicity was seen in Intensive Care (62.2% vs 37.2%; p=0.001) and concurrent nephrotoxins* (71.1% vs 37.6%; P<0.001) compared to these without ⁽¹⁰⁾

> Figure 6 Kaplan-Meier of Vancomycin associated AKI in patient in or not in PICU

*nephrotoxins defined in the study included loop diuretics, vasopressors, aminoglycosides, contrast dye, and intravenous acyclovir



Appendix II: Frequently Asked Questions

1. What is the evidence of the 15 mg/kg/dose 6 hourly dosing, and why is 30 mg/kg/dose 12 hourly from the eTG as a starting dose not recommended?

- 6 hourly has the most supporting literature in pharmacokinetic target attainment in children >1 month of age and paediatric clinical experience with most children achieving target concentration within 3000 mg/day ^(2, 19, 20, 23, 24)
- 8 hourly and 12 hourly dosing have been described in other guidelines and literature, but it is crucial to note they have different target trough concentration targets and are not interchangeable. Less frequent dosing will always require a lower trough level to achieve the same AUC. ^(1, 19, 20)
- 15 mg/kg/dose 6 hourly has been found to achieve a target ≥AUC 400 in over 75% of children >3 months of age. Monte Carlo simulations in children have shown that this dose will achieve a median trough level of 14 mg/L (IQR 8-21) and a median AUC of 541 mg-hr/L (IQR 397-735) (Figure 7). The remaining 25% of children that may require higher doses is discussed in Question 3. ⁽¹⁹⁾
- Lastly, infusions of 30 mg/kg/dose may be associated with vancomycin infusion reaction ⁽²⁵⁾, which discourages the higher 12 hourly dose despite being the same total daily dose.









2. Why are the target troughs of 15 to 20 mg/L not recommended?

- A higher trough target of 15-20 mg/L was recommended in previous American guidelines ⁽²⁶⁾ and the current eTG ⁽¹⁾. This was initially based on an adult study with the supervising author, Michael Rybak, describing an association with increasing treatment failures of MRSA bloodstream infections <15 mg/L.⁽²⁷⁾ Subsequently, Michael Rybak has now rescinded this recommendation in his most current guidelines based on the entirety of the evidence. ⁽²⁾
- From a clinical perspective, there is clinical data that has debunked the target 15-20 mg/L range. Targeting a trough of ≥15 mg/L was not associated with an increase in treatment success in deep-seated MRSA infections ⁽²⁸⁾, critically ill MRSA pneumonia ⁽²⁹⁾ or MRSA bacteraemia.⁽³⁰⁾
- A paediatric retrospective study (n=192) in MRSA bacteraemia from osteoarticular focus showed troughs >15 mg/L were not associated with improved clinical outcomes. The outcomes measured included: duration of fever, bacteraemia or need for repeat surgery. The authors found an association with AKI, increased length of stay. ⁽³¹⁾
- The same authors published a larger prospective study in children with MRSA bacteraemia (n=340) found trough levels >15 mg/L had no clinical benefit. There was a clear proportional increased risk of AKI (Table 1) ⁽³²⁾

	$\begin{array}{c} Trough \leq 10 \ \mu g/ml \\ (n=55) \end{array}$	Trough 10-≤15 µg/ml (n=33)	Trough > 15 μg/ml (n=39)	P value
Median Age, Months (IQR)	15.6 (1.2–96)	2.4 (0.1–10.3)	9.4 (0.3–169.2)	0.3
Infectious Diagnosis of Endocarditis	7 (12.7)	10 (30.3)	4 (10.3)	0.07
Median Duration of Bacteremia, Days (IQR)	2 (1–4)	2.5 (1–5)	2 (1-4)	0.4
Median Time to Resolution of Fever, Days (IQR)	2 (1–4)	3 (2-4)	2 (1–5)	0.2
Median Length of Hospital Stay, Days (IQR)	17.5 (10-44)	47.5 (24–104)	43.5 (25-89)	0.01
AKI	9 (16.2)	11 (33.3)	24 (61.5)	<0.001
S. aureus Attributable Mortality	2 (3.6)	3 (9.1)	8 (20.5)	0.02

Table 1: Outcomes of MRSA Bacteraemia by trough levels in children

- From a nephrotoxicity perspective, recent meta-analyses of vancomycin induced nephrotoxicity in both adults and children have led the authors of the American guidelines to no longer recommend trough targets of 15-20mg/L for serious MRSA infections. Evidence summaries on page 13 ^(2, 11, 22)
- From a pharmacokinetic perspective, studies have shown trough targets of 15-20 mg/L are not necessary to achieve AUC>400 in children. 25-35% of children who have already achieve target AUC will be exposed to unnecessarily high doses ^(19, 20, 23, 33, 34)
- Based on the evidence of increased risk of nephrotoxicity and lack of clinical benefit (even in severe MRSA infections), a trough target of 15-20 mg/L has been reduced to 7-15 mg/L in this guideline. These target troughs are similar to an AUC of 400-540 mghr/L in paediatric studies. The eTG was published before Michael Rybak's American guidelines and will need to wait for the next edition to consider adopting this change. ^(1, 2)



Page 16 of 21

3. Where did the trough level-based dose adjustments, maximum doses of 100 mg/kg/DAY or 4.5g/DAY, come from?

- The dose adjustments on page 4 follow a simplified version of linear dose adjustment, and the maximum doses studied. Vancomycin displays linear pharmacokinetics (e.g. dose directly proportional to serum concentration). ⁽¹⁾
 - For example, when trough levels are low ($\leq 5 \text{ mg/L}$), the dose increase of multiplying 0 the dose by 1.66, [(e.g. 15 mg/kg/dose 6 hourly (60 mg/kg/DAY) by 1.66= 24.9 mg/kg/dose 6 hourly (99.6 mg/kg/DAY)] is the maximum dose increase.
- Up to 25% of children may require higher doses of 60 to 100mg/kg/DAY studied in children with increased clearance (e.g. oncology and augmented renal clearance).⁽¹⁹⁾
- Higher doses of 100 mg/kg/DAY may be required for children with increased vancomycin renal clearance (augmented renal clearance). This may be up to 12% of children who have serum creatinine <30 microg/L or eGFR≥130 mL/min/1.73m². Children older than 8 years of age are more likely to have augmented renal clearance (17% vs 4.6%, p=0.002) and are more likely to have lower trough levels (5 mg/L vs 9 mg/L. p<0.001). (35, 36)
- Higher doses of 80 mg/kg/DAY may be required for paediatric cancer patients. Malignancy in children and infants have been shown to lead to an increased clearance by 30%. (37-39)
- Doses of >100 mg/kg/DAY have been poorly studied and will lead to toxic trough levels (>21 mg/L) and toxic AUCs (>843 mg-hr/L). Therefore 100 mg/kg/day is recommended as the maximum dose. (2, 19)
- eTG recommends a maximum dose of 70 mg/kg/DAY; this translates to a maximum dose increase multiplier of 1.17 for starting doses of 60 mg/kg/DAY (e.g. 70/60=1.17).⁽¹⁾
- This real patient model illustrates the false logic in this recommendation: A 9-year-old 40.3 kg girl and a height of 125 cm with a Cr of 30 is started on vancomycin 15 mg/kg/dose 6 hourly and gets a trough level of 5 mg/L. Using the linear dose adjustment and being capped at 70 mg/kg/day according to the eTG, a dose increase of 1.17x would only produce a subtherapeutic trough level of 5.37 mg/L. and an AUC 316. (Figure 8)





Guideline: Vancomycin Dosing and Therapeutic Drug Monitoring - CHW

- A pharmacokinetic study has shown that 7-20% of children >3 months will not achieve target AUC≥400 mg-hr/L with a dose 70 mg/kg/DAY. Doses of 80-100 mg/kg/DAY may be required in patients with increase clearance, as previously discussed ⁽¹⁹⁾
- A linear dose adjustment with a dose cap 80 mg/kg/DAY would only produce a trough of 6.6 mg/L and an AUC of 360 (Figure 9)



• A dose increase of 1.66x (the max dose of 99.6 mg/kg/DAY) according to this guideline would produce a trough level of 8.56 mg/L and an AUC of 429 (Figure 10)



A linear dose increase with no max dose cap for a target of 15 mg/L for "severe infections" according to the eTG (e.g. tripling the dose since the level is 5 mg/L) would produce toxic levels (trough 15.9 and AUC 800.23) (Figure 11)



• 4.5 g/DAY is the maximum vancomycin dose from studies in obese adults and is recommended to be an appropriate maximum dose for obese children ^(2, 40, 41)



4. Is there different dosing in obesity for children because it is not mentioned in the guideline?

- An earlier vancomycin pharmacokinetic study in obese children (n=87, 389 levels) showed that the differences between obese children and normal weights are not clinically relevant for dose adjustments. The authors concluded that actual body weight should be used regardless. ⁽⁴²⁾ This was tested subsequently by the same authors, and they found 15 mg/kg/dose 6 hourly achieved an AUC ≥400 in 76% of obese children when actual body weight was used and 66% when ideal body weight was used.⁽²⁾
- In the largest pharmacokinetic study (n=1892, 5524 samples) with 301 that were obese children, the heaviest weighing 188 kg. The authors found that the clearance of vancomycin was directly proportional to the total body weight which supports the conclusion of earlier studies (Figure 12). They also proposed a dosing guideline, but this has not been tested or validated. ⁽⁴¹⁾



- The American guidelines recommend a loading dose of 20 mg/kg/dose in obese children, but this is based on a conference presentation, and alarmingly 20% of children had toxic AUCs of ≥800. This evidence has not been published or peer-reviewed. ^(2, 43)
- This guideline does not recommend specific dosing for obese children; using a starting dose of 15 mg/kg/dose 6 hourly will achieve a target AUC≥400 in 3 out of 4 obese children. Adjusting the dose based on troughs or AUC modelling with assist with the remaining 1 out of 4, significantly when the trough targets are lowered from 10-20mg/L to 7-15 mg/L. ⁽¹⁹⁾
- 4.5 g/DAY is the maximum vancomycin dose from studies in obese adults and is recommended to be an appropriate maximum dose for obese children ^(2, 34, 40, 41)



5. Why are loading doses of vancomycin not recommended in this guideline?

- Loading doses have been shown to be safe and effective in adult practice. ⁽²⁾ The highest-level evidence for vancomycin loading doses in adults is an RCT (n=99) which found a higher percentage of early target attainment (34% vs 3%, p<0.01). There was no difference in AKI or clinical outcomes. ⁽⁴⁴⁾ The largest adult vancomycin loading dose study (n=449) showed no different clinical outcomes (e.g. clinical failure, mortality, or AKI). ⁽⁴⁵⁾
- At the time of this publication, there is currently no robust clinical evidence to support loading doses of vancomycin in children. It is not recommended in American guidelines ⁽²⁾ but is recommended in the eTG ⁽¹⁾; this is based on expert opinion level evidence rather than the two primary studies.
- One small RCT in children (n=59) showed no earlier target attainment of vancomycin serum concentrations from the 30 mg/kg loading dose, despite using unnecessarily high trough targets of 15-20 mg/L, and, more importantly, there was no difference in AUCs in the first 24 hours. No difference in AKI was seen. The authors found a trend to more vancomycin infusion reactions from the loading dose (48% vs 24%, p=0.06). ⁽²⁵⁾
- A larger paediatric retrospective study (n=151) showed a loading dose of 25 mg/kg achieved higher trough levels of 13 mg/L vs. 9.2 mg/L (p<0.0001). Both trough levels are within newer target vancomycin concentrations (7-15 mg/L) which question the benefits of the loading dose and needs reevaluation. AUCs were not measured in this study as a key limitation. There was no difference in AKI. ⁽⁴⁵⁾
- The lack of utility of loading doses in children compared to adults can be explained based on fundamental pharmacokinetic principles. Children have shorter half-lives compared to adults (2-3 hours vs 4-6 hours), and therefore, the time to reach a steady-state concentration is much sooner in children (within 8-12 hours) compared to adults (within 16-24 hours). The purpose of the loading dose is to achieve target steady-state concentrations immediately, and this is achieved within 2 doses for 6 hourly dosing in children. This is the reason why loading doses are used in drugs with long half-lives like amiodarone or isavuconazole. The two primary studies are consistent with this explanation where the time to early target attainment is no different if a loading dose of vancomycin is given in children (^{25, 45}).
- Figure 13 (next page) illustrates a Bayesian forecast modelled child where no loading dose still achieved an AUC>400 in the first 24 hours compared to if a loading dose of 30 mg/kg was given. One can see graphically, and by the trough levels, steady-state was achieved by the second dose (e.g. 12 hours) when loading dosing was not given.



Guideline No: 2009-8037 v5

Guideline: Vancomycin Dosing and Therapeutic Drug Monitoring – CHW



Figure 13: Bayesian forecast model of a 3 year old boy, weighing 13 kg with a serum

- The evidence for loading doses in children is limited only to use in obesity (20 mg/kg/dose) and when administering continuous infusions (15 mg/kg/dose). These doses are lower and near regular maintenance doses. ^(2, 6)
- The half-life of vancomycin in neonates is significantly longer 6-10 hours, so the time to reach a steady-state is later, and loading doses may be of utility in this age group. This needs to be further evaluated. ⁽⁴⁶⁾
- Ultimately, there is insufficient data to recommend loading doses in children, and the safety and efficacy are not translatable from adult studies. There is an evident lack of pharmacokinetic benefit and a suggestive risk of a vancomycin infusion reaction.



Page 21 of 21